
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

    

Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee Meeting 
SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS 

Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee (NMAC) Meeting | September 12, 2023 



  

 

 

           

         

         

   

      

  
  

      

Table of Contents 

2.0 General instructions for the format of a teleconference meeting 3 

4.0 Review and vote on whether to approve previous meeting’s minutes 5 

5.0 Discussion and possible action: Regarding meeting dates for 2024 17 

6.0 Discussion and possible action: Report from the four NMAC subcommittees: 
Public Engagement and Website; Nurse Midwifery Scope of Practice; Regulations; and 
Nurse Midwifery Education 20 

7.0 Discussion and possible action: Regarding input from NMAC on possible 
changes to the BRN Disciplinary Guidelines, to provide recommendations or guidance 
on care when the Board is considering disciplinary action against a certified nurse-
midwife 22 

2 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

         
 

  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 2.0 
General instructions for the format of a teleconference meeting 

Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee (NMAC) Meeting | September 12, 2023 

3 



  

   
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

               

   
 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
   

 
 
 
 

       
         

               
 

Participating During a Public Comment Period (if joining the meeting remotely via WebEx) 
If you would like to make a public comment: 

1. Click on the 
‘Q & A’ 
button at the 
lower right 
of your 
WebEx 
session (you 
may need to 
click the 
three dots 
(…) to find 
this option). 

2. The 
‘Q & A’ 
panel 
will 
appear. 

3. In the ‘Q & A’ panel, type “I would like to make a comment”. You will be identified by the name or moniker you 
used to join the WebEx session, your line will be opened (click the ‘Unmute me’ button), and you will have 
two (2) minutes to provide comment. Every effort is made to take comments in the order which they are 
requested. 

NOTE: Please submit a new request for each agenda item on which you would like to comment. 

4 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

        
 

  
 
 

Agenda Item 4.0 
Review and vote on whether to approve previous meeting’s minutes. 

Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee (NMAC) Meeting | September 12, 2023 

5 



  

 
 

 
  

 
 

   
 

   
 

   
  

   
  

    
     

     
 

   
  

 
 

    
    

  
  

  
   

 
   
 

 
 

    
   

     
 

   
  

 
  

   
   

 
   
       
   
    
   
     
   
     
   
  

 
 

   
 

 BOARD OF REGISTERED NURSING DRAFT 
NURSE-MIDWIFERY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

DATE: March 7, 2023 

START TIME: 9:04 am 

LOCATION: NOTE: A physical meeting location was not provided pursuant to 
the provisions of Government Code section 11133 (added by 
Assembly Bill No. 361 (Rivas), Reg. Sess. 2021-2022). 

9:04 am 1.0 Call to Order/Roll Call/Establishment of a Quorum 
Mary Kay Phillips, PhD, CNM – Chair, called the meeting to order at 
9:04 am. All members present except Hillary Reyes. Quorum 
established at 9:05 am. 

Nurse-Midwifery Mary Kay Phillips, PhD, CNM – Chair 
Advisory Committee Jenna Shaw-Battista, PhD, RN, PHN, NP, CNM, FACNM – Vice Chair 

Members: James Byrne, MD 
Rebecca DeSantis 
Ruth Mielke, PhD, CNM, FACNM, WHNP-BC 
Hilary Reyes - Absent 
Kenneth James, MD 

BRN Staff Loretta Melby, RN, MSN, Executive Officer 
Representatives: Reza Pejuhesh, DCA Legal Affairs Division, Attorney 

9:12 am 3.0 Public comment for items not on the agenda; items for future 
agendas. 

Public Comment for No public comments. 
Agenda Item 3.0: 

9:14 am 4.0 Review and vote on whether to approve previous meeting’s 
minutes 

4.1 November 1, 2022 

Discussion: No comments or questions. 

Motion: James Byrne to approve the November 1, 2022, meeting minutes. 

Second: Rebecca DeSantis 

Public Comment for No public comments. 
Agenda Item 4.0: 

6 



  

  
 

       
       

     

   
   

   
 

 
  

  
  

 
   
  

 
 

 
    

   

  
 

 
 

   
  

  
  

   
 

    
  

  
  

 
  

    
  

 
 

   
 

  
 

  
   

 
  

    
 

 
 

 
   

  

Vote: 
Vote 

MP JSB JB RD RM HR KJ 
Y Y Y Y Y AB Y 

Key: Yes: Y | No: N | Abstain: A | Absent for Vote: AB 

Motion Passed 

9:17 am 5.0 Discussion and possible action: Regarding the development of 
action plans with deliverables for the four NMAC 
subcommittees: Public Engagement and Website, Nurse 
Midwifery Scope of Practice, Regulations, and Nurse-Midwifery
Education 

Discussion: Mary Kay Phillips opened the agenda item and explained that she is 
the only committee member on the Public Engagement 
subcommittee due to an odd number of committee members. She 
was very active reviewing the BRN website for the past year to 
clean it up and update the information. She thinks it looks good and 
still periodically reviews it but wants to be careful about what new 
information is posted. 

Loretta Melby: Explained why Mary Kay Phillips is the only 
member of the Public Engagement subcommittee and she further 
explained that another member could be added in a future meeting. 
She asked if this subcommittee will be doing any other duties 
besides website review. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Stated that updating the entire website is a big 
ask and not her role. She thinks her role is to constantly review the 
website and look for anything outstanding. She is under the 
impression any changes to the website require Board approval. 

Loretta Melby: Clarified that website changes do not need to go 
before the Board. She explained that there could be an advisory 
that needs a regulation change which would need to be brought to 
this committee, the Nursing Practice committee and then Board. 

Kenneth James: Asked if this was about the BRN’s website. 

Loretta Melby: Explained it is and gave the web address. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked if she would be a contact if anyone finds 
out of date information on the website. 

Loretta Melby: Said Mary Kay Phillips can meet with whomever 
she wants from the public about the website; however, she did 
caution communication between NMAC members due to Bagley-
Keene. 

James Byrne: Asked if there are limitations about communication 
between members for issues that are not agendized currently or in 
the past. 

7 



  

 
 

  
 

    
     

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

    
   

 
   

 
   

  
 

  
   

 
    

 
   

   
 

  

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
   
  

 
 

  

  
 

Loretta Melby: Cautioned about serial communication between 
advisory committee members so as not to violate Bagley-Keene. 

James Byrne: Explained that he has a lot of blind spots and likes to 
discuss issues to see them from other members’ viewpoints. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Explained that any communication with any public 
person is fine but communication between advisory committee 
members outside of agendized meetings is limited. If members 
serve on a subcommittee, then the two members can discuss their 
assigned topics together but not with any other committee 
members. Reza reiterated what was previously said about the 
website and bringing anything requiring legislation to the committee 
for discussion. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked if deliverables can be identified for report 
out at the next meeting. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Agreed that would be a good idea. 

Kenneth James: Asked what the definition of public engagement 
is. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Said it is whatever the advisory committee wants it 
to be, which wasn’t done at the last meeting. 

James Byrne: Said he recalled discussing public engagement as 
the value of having a public facing website available to increase 
awareness among the lay public but also the midwifery community 
and physician and hospital communities to help with some of the 
pushback and obstruction for making progress. 

Loretta Melby: Reminded the committee that the Board’s mission is 
public protection which must be separate from promotion of the 
profession. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Agrees with Dr. Byrne about accurate 
information on the website and she believes there are three points 
to the action plan and a deliverable and would like to move to the 
next subcommittee. 

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Asked if the next is clinical or policy for 
scope of practice as she recalls there was a discussion at the last 
meeting. 

Loretta Melby: Provided the definition of scope of practice and 
explained that if the subcommittee finds there needs to be changes 
made for scope of practice via legislation/regulation then it could be 
brought to the NMAC. 

8 



  

  
 

 
   

 
  

  
 

 
  

   
 

  
 

   
   

 
    

 
   

  
 

  
 

  
 

    
 

    
  

  
 

 
    

 
 

    
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

   
 

   
  

 
  

   
  

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Explained that this would be nurse midwifery 
clinical practice. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Explained that she thinks this subcommittee will 
be the most robust because you’re going to identify limits or 
perceived limits for issues that may come out of CDPH that isn’t 
really within the regulations. 

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Explained that she and Ruth will need to 
figure out how to proactively identify some of those issues or maybe 
they will start to flow to them. She thinks it would be nice to partner 
or join with Rebecca on the education subcommittee since she is a 
former educator. 

Loretta Melby: Reminded the group that any committee changes 
need to be handled at the next meeting in the fall. 

Ruth Mielke: Asked when SB 1237 was officially signed. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Explained it was signed in November 2019 and 
became law in January 2020. 

Ruth Mielke: Explained their roles are to look at the bill to see how 
midwives are practicing and whether there are inconsistencies, an 
example is independently ordering genetic testing as an action item. 

Loretta Melby: Said this could be part of it, but you don’t need to 
limit yourselves to SB 1237. There are entire statutory and 
regulatory sections when looking at scope of practice. Any 
clarifications to statute can be made through regulations or website 
updates. This could result in new subcommittee assignments. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked Jenna Shaw-Battista and Ruth Mielke to 
identify three action items for their subcommittee to work on. 

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Explained one would be to respond to 
questions or issues about CNM scope of practice with review of 
current regulations to the Board as necessary. She thought issues 
might be brought by the public to them. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Thought investigate and respond might be an 
action item. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Explained that he is leery about committee 
members responding to the public on behalf of the Board. 

Ruth Mielke: Asked if they would be a liaison regarding scope of 
practice. 

Loretta Melby: Said it would be good to bring that information to 
BRN staff. She further explained that one of the primary 
responsibilities of NECs outside of education is to answer scope of 

9 



  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
   

 
  

  
 

  
 

  
  

 
   

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

   
  

 
  
    

 
  

  
 

 
 

  
  

 
  

  
 

    
 
 

practice questions from the public so bringing that information to 
these meetings would help the NECs provide that information to the 
public. 

Ruth Mielke: Asked if the committee members’ names would be 
added to the website for the public to reach out to them if 
necessary. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that this information will be added to the 
website. 

Discussion about referring questions to the Board for response to 
the public ensued. 

James Byrne: Clarified that if any committee member is contacted 
with a question or issue that it should be referred to Loretta Melby 
and/or McCaulie for staff response versus responding with personal 
opinions. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Clarified that subcommittee members will 
evaluate and make recommendations. 

James Byrne: Explained that these issues do not go back to 
individuals who contact the NMAC members. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Explained issues can be brought to committee 
meetings after researching issues in the subcommittee to discuss 
with recommendations for a decision to be made by the full 
committee on recommendations to the Board. 

Loretta Melby: Stated that staff can keep track of issues brought 
and what the outcome was (i.e. Issue X went to regulations, issue Y 
went to the web, etc.) 

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Proposed identifying trends, to know if 
something is a one-off issue or repeatedly being reported. 

Loretta Melby: Suggested this being added as a deliverable that 
could be reported out on at meetings in the materials. 

Jenna Shaw-Battista and Reza Pejuhesh discussed that this could 
be more of a general nature. 

Ruth Mielke: Said create a tracking mechanism to identify trends 
and scope of practice issues needing NMAC’s attention. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked if these need to be verbalized for 
minutes. 

Loretta Melby: Said yes and they must be voted on by NMAC. 

10 



  

 
 

  

  
  

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

    
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

   
  

 
    

 
  

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

 
 

   
 

Regulations 
James Byrne: Explained that it’s just him since Hillary is absent. He 
said the regulatory side would be a conduit from what was said 
earlier to help identify emerging issues related to implementation of 
SB 1237 and any future legislation and other existing legislation for 
consistent interpretation and administration. 

Loretta Melby: Provided clarification between regulations and 
legislation and the length of time to complete the regulatory process 
which is currently about two years. Provided further information 
about the existing nurse midwifery regulations at CCR, title 16, 
sections 1460-1467. 

James Byrne: Explained that he understands the subcommittee 
cannot take unilateral action but can facilitate communications and 
review by staff and other regulatory/legislative stakeholders to 
impact patient care throughout the state to help identify barriers that 
are not anticipated or are already on the radar and anticipated. This 
subcommittee might be able to create better conditions for success. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Provided context that this subcommittee could 
work with the regulation attorney and other staff offline when 
regulation packages are being developed to serve as a 
representative of this committee. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked if this subcommittee would be a conduit 
or point of contact for a member of the public or if a public agency 
had a question associated with regulations. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that there is BRN staff under the Chief 
Legislative Affairs to work on regulations. Any information should be 
forwarded to her for staff to look at and provide an answer or 
direction. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked if issues involving regulations would 
need to be reported out at the two annual meetings because the 
committee members cannot communicate with each other outside 
of NMAC meetings. 

Loretta Melby: Said issues involving regulations can be brought to 
Board staff (Loretta, Reza, and McCaulie). 

James Byrne: Asked if the subcommittees report to BRN staff then 
an issue can be forwarded to another subcommittee for discussion. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Explained that this could not be done as this could 
be considered a hub and spoke serial communication violation of 
Bagley-Keene. The subcommittees do their respective work offline 
while overlapping issues are brought to the NMAC meetings. 

11 



  

    
 

 
  

   
  

  
 

   
   

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
    

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

 
 

 
   

  
 

  
   

  

  
 

   
  

 
   

 
 

Loretta Melby: Clarified that there is no delay if issues are brought 
to BRN staff to immediately begin taking action. 

James Byrne: Asked a question about an example of a nurse 
midwife who is unable to get on a payer plan in network because 
the payer has an interpretation of statute that is blocking it then it 
would be communicated in to BRN staff and wait until the next 
NMAC meeting. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that is a complex issue the BRN does not 
deal with payer issues because they are outside the jurisdiction of 
the BRN. 

Discussion ensued about what issues the BRN has jurisdiction and 
authority, and references of issues can be made to the agencies 
who have jurisdiction and authority. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Provided an example of an issue about outdated 
materials on another agency’s website. 

Mary Kay Phillips: The following deliverables/topics will be 
reported to NMAC: help identify emerging issues about SB 1237 
and other existing or future legislation; identify whether there are 
needs for more legislation, regulations, updates, etc.; and, work with 
staff and processes that are required to move regulations through 
the process. 

Nurse-Midwifery Education 
Rebecca DeSantis: Explained their responsibility is to evaluate 
concerns and bring to NMAC the concerns of nurse-midwives and 
stakeholders regarding education requirements, and then provide 
potential verbiage for consideration and approval for the or updated 
regulations. 

Kenneth James: Asked if this committee’s responsibility is to 
discuss requirements needed for licensing and does not have to do 
with educating midwives. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that is partially true and said there are 
regulations for nurse-midwife education and there are also statutory 
requirements around nurse-midwife education. But if clarification is 
needed and nurse-midwife education programs are running into 
some issues, they can reach out to the group who will bring it 
forward. She further explained this committee can also review 
education renewal requirements having to do with continuing 
education since it has been brought up at the last three sunset 
hearings. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked if Kenneth James was willing to be a part 
of this subcommittee and he agreed to serve. 

12 



  

   
 

  
 

  
   

  

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
  

   
   

  
  

   
 

  
  

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
   

   
 

   
 

   
    
   
  

  
 

   
  

 
       

       
     

   
   

Motion: 

Second: 

Public Comment for 
Agenda Item 5.0: 

Vote: 

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Asked if a former or current midwifery 
educator could be added to this committee since they can’t 
communicate with each other outside the two meetings per year. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that cannot be discussed right now 
because it is not on the agenda, but she stated that this can be 
added to a future agenda. She said she would work with Mary Kay 
Phillips and Jenna Shaw-Battista offline about this issue before the 
next meeting. 

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Explained that she thought this committee 
could provide some insight if this is needed at the next NMAC 
meeting. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Said maybe someone in the community could 
work with the subcommittee. 

Rebecca DeSantis: Motioned to assign the following tasks to the 
four subcommittees: 
• Public Engagement and Website: Review website and look for 

items out of date or needing to be updated or removed; work 
on anything new that should be added; be available as a point 
of contact. Deliverable: Report back to NMAC. 

• CNM Scope of Practice: Create a tracking mechanism to 
identify trends in scope of practice issues needing NMAC 
attention with recommendations and resolutions; to evaluate 
clinical issues raised by stakeholders and make 
recommendations. 

• Regulations: Help identify emerging issues related to SB 1237 
and other existing and future legislation to identify whether 
there is a need for more regulation updates etc.; work with 
people and processes that are required to move regulations 
through the process. Deliverable: Report back to NMAC. 

• CNM Education: Evaluate concerns and bring to NMAC 
concerns of nurse midwives and stakeholders regarding 
educational requirements; provide potential verbiage to NMAC 
for consideration and approval for the website on new and 
existing educational requirements; needs for nurse midwives 
including existing regulation and updated regulation. 

Ruth Mielke 

No public comments. 

Vote 
MP JSB JB RD RM HR KJ 
Y Y Y Y Y AB Y 

Key: Yes: Y | No: N | Abstain: A | Absent for Vote: AB 

Motion Passed 

13 



  

   
 

 

   
 

   
  

 
  

  
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

 
   

  

  
  

 
  

  
 

  
  

 
  

   
 

  
  

 
  

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
  

 
   

    
 

   
 
   

   

10:55 am 6.0 Discussion and possible action: Regarding the procedures for 
NMAC to provide recommendations or guidance on care when 
the Board is considering disciplinary action against a certified 
nurse-midwife 

Discussion: Mary Kay Phillips requested public comment first since time is 
limited to discuss this agenda item.  There were no public 
comments. 

Loretta Melby: Gave a brief overview of the joint meeting and this 
agenda item and asked Reza to discuss his statement at the joint 
meeting about NMAC providing recommendations to the Board for a 
final decision and not participating in the adjudicatory process. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Read information from the Administrative 
Procedures Act (APA) which says the function of the Board shall be 
separated from the investigative and prosecutorial functions. He 
explained that Loretta Melby is the complainant in a disciplinary 
matter, the AG represents the Board to fulfill the prosecutorial and 
advocacy function. The Board sits as a neutral trier of fact as a 
neutral arbitrator to determine the final outcome of a case. When 
NMAC provides recommendations on whether a case should be 
filed then NMAC is dabbling in the investigatory phase. When 
NMAC provides guidance after the case is filed then you are 
participating in the advocacy process. 

Ruth Mielke: Asked who chooses a reviewer during the 
investigation and Reza explained the process. 

Loretta Melby: Provided information regarding the expert reviewer 
process: application, criteria, and that the CNM must currently be 
practicing for five years. She said the CNM must be practicing within 
the same related field (i.e. In hospital, home birth, etc.) as the 
person who is under investigation. 

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Asked what the NMAC role is for the 
discipline process. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that it is the disciplinary guidelines. The 
guidelines need updating and NMAC can help do this for nurse 
midwives. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked when NMAC interjects in a nurse-midwife 
discipline case. 

Rebecca DeSantis: Stated that NMAC is not to be told when to 
participate, that the NMAC committee is to decide. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that there is conflict between the APA 
requirements that Reza explained and the view that SB 1237 
requires NMAC to individually review investigations or cases 
involving nurse midwives and directly advising the Board. 

14 



  

 
   

   
 

   
   

 
   

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
   

  
 

    
 

  
 

 
  

 
   

   
 

   
 

  
 

  
  

 
  
  

 
     

  
 

 
   
   
   
  

  
   

 
 

Motion: 

Rebecca DeSantis: Stated that she is frustrated that BRN is 
allowed to use a paid expert outside the Board to opine but NMAC 
cannot do that as well. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that the outside expert is considered an 
employee of the Board and NMAC is serving as the Board. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Stated that he understands the frustration of the 
committee members saying the language in SB 1237 is open to 
various interpretations. He explained the expert review process 
similarities between administrative and criminal cases. He further 
explained how respondent (licensee) can cross examine the expert 
presented by the Board which would not be the case if the NMAC is 
the expert reviewer and poses a due process problem. 

Rebecca DeSantis: Wanted to know how the NMAC fixes this 
review process for the committee to look at each nurse midwife 
case. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Stated that the legislature needs to fix this 
interpretation issue, so it does not violate a licensee’s due process 
constitutional rights. 

Jenna Shaw-Battista: Said the APA was consulted prior to the 
language being added in the bill. 

Rebecca DeSantis: Said NMAC wants to do this a certain way, but 
Reza is saying NMAC cannot do it that way. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Explained that his advice is based on the laws and 
is legal advice. He further explained that while this committee has 
an important role it is an advisory committee to the Board and if the 
Board says the committee will do this a certain way, then the Board 
controls the decision. 

Mary Kay Phillips and Jenna Shaw-Battista want to know if there is 
any role the NMAC can play during the discipline process. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Asked if the disciplinary guidelines could 
mandate that NMAC be made aware of it. 

Rebecca DeSantis: Asked that this item be placed on the next 
agenda for a full discussion and not be rushed in a vote. 

The committee opened for a second public comment period. 

No motion made. 

Public Comment for No public comments for the first public comment period. 
Agenda Item 6.0: 

Second public comment: 
15 



  

 
  

  

 
  

 
 

  
  

 
  

     
   

  
 

 
   

    
 

   
 

   
       

 
   
   
   

   
   
   
   

   
   
   
    

   
   
     
   
   

 
 

Ali Smith, health policy chair for CNMA: She said Senator Dodd 
considered the APA when the language was drafted. The specificity 
was intended so that individual cases could somehow be part of 
NMAC discussions related to that case depending on how the 
Board could do that. She said providing guidance in the disciplinary 
guidelines dabbles in the advocacy part of the process so why 
couldn’t the committee be involved during the investigative process. 
Reza discussed the issues with the commenter. Ali Smith asked if 
the Board would bring this issue to the legislature for better 
guidance. 

Reza Pejuhesh: Explained that this would need to be brought to the 
Board, possibly during the “Public comment for items not on the 
agenda” since neither the committee, Loretta Melby, nor he can 
speak on behalf of the Board. He said he does not have a stake in 
this issue either way except for the legal issues it creates. 

Loretta Melby: Explained that there does not need to be a motion 
or vote on this agenda item. 

Mary Kay Phillips: Said this issue is not resolved and we will carry 
on adjourning the meeting. 

11:48 am 7.0 Adjournment: Mary Kay Phillips, PhD, CNM- Chair, adjourned the 
meeting at 11:48 am. 

Submitted by: Accepted by: 

McCaulie Feusahrens Mary Kay Phillips, PhD, CNM 
Chief of Licensing Chair 
Licensing Division Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee 
California Board of Registered Nursing 

Loretta Melby, MSN, RN 
Executive Officer 
California Board of Registered Nursing 

16 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

    
 

  
 
 

Agenda Item 5.0 
Discussion and Possible Action: Regarding meeting dates for 2024 

Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee (NMAC) Meeting | September 12, 2023 

17 



  

 
 

 
 

  
      

 
    

 
   

 
 

  
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

 
 

  
 

 

  
 

   
  

 
 

BOARD OF REGISTERED NURSING 
Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee Meeting

Agenda Item Summary 

AGENDA ITEM: 5.0 
DATE: September 12, 2023 

ACTION REQUESTED: Discussion and Possible Action: Regarding meeting dates for 2024 

REQUESTED BY: Mary Kay Phillips, PhD, CNM 
NMAC Chair 

BACKGROUND: 

The NMAC will meet twice per year.  Meetings will be open to the public and adhere to the Bagley-
Keene Open Meeting Act requirements. Special meetings may be held at such times as the Board 
may elect, or on the call of the Board President or the Executive Officer. 

A proposed schedule is included in the meeting materials. 

RESOURCES: 

NEXT STEPS: 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF ANY: None 

PERSON(S) TO CONTACT: McCaulie Feusahrens 
Chief of the Licensing Division 
California Board of Registered Nursing 
mccaulie.feusahrens@dca.ca.gov 

18 

mailto:mccaulie.feusahrens@dca.ca.gov


  

      
                            

   
     

  
   

   
 

 
 

   
   

   
   

   
      

  
   

   
 

 
 

   
   

   
   

 
 

 
   

   
     

  
   

   
   

   

   
      

  
   

   
 

 
 

   
   

   

  

BRN Board, Committee, and Advisory Committee Meetings in 2024 

January 2024 Advisory Committees 
Clinical Nurse Specialist Advisory Committee (CNSAC) 
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist Advisory Committee (CRNAAC) 

January 25, 2024 Board Committee Meetings 
Nursing Practice Committee 
Education/Licensing Committee 
Enforcement/Intervention Committee 
Legislative Committee 

February 28-29, 2024 Board Meeting 

March 2024 Advisory Committee 
Nurse Education and Workforce Advisory Committee (NEWAC) 

March 26, 2024 Advisory Committees 
Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee (NMAC) 
Nurse Practitioner Advisory Committee (NPAC) 

April 18, 2024 

May 22-23, 2024 

Board Committee Meetings 
Nursing Practice Committee 
Education/Licensing Committee 
Enforcement/Intervention Committee 
Legislative Committee 

Board Meeting 

June 20, 2024 

July 2024 

Board Committee Meetings 
Nursing Practice Committee 
Education/Licensing Committee 
Enforcement/Intervention Committee 
Legislative Committee 

No Scheduled Meetings 

August 2024 

August 21-22, 2024 

Advisory Committees 
Clinical Nurse Specialist Advisory Committee (CNSAC) 
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist Advisory Committee (CRNAAC) 

Board Meeting 

September 2024 Advisory Committee 
Nurse Education and Workforce Advisory Committee (NEWAC) 

September 24, 2024 Advisory Committees 
Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee (NMAC) 
Nurse Practitioner Advisory Committee (NPAC) 

October 24, 2024 

November 20-21, 2024 

Board Committee Meetings 
Nursing Practice Committee 
Education/Licensing Committee 
Enforcement/Intervention Committee 
Legislative Committee 

Board Meeting 

December 2024 No Scheduled Meetings 

19 



  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

     
     

  
 

  
 
 

Agenda Item 6.0 
Discussion and Possible Action: Report from the four NMAC subcommittees: 

Public Engagement and Website, Nurse-Midwifery Scope of Practice,
Regulations, and Nurse-Midwifery Education 

Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee (NMAC) Meeting | September 12, 2023 

20 



  

 
 

 
 

  
      

 
     

  
   

 
   

 
 

  
 

  
  

  
   
   
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

   
  

 
 

BOARD OF REGISTERED NURSING 
Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee Meeting

Agenda Item Summary 

AGENDA ITEM: 6.0 
DATE: September 12, 2023 

ACTION REQUESTED: Discussion and Possible Action: Report from the four NMAC 
subcommittees: Public Engagement and Website, Nurse-Midwifery 
Scope of Practice, Regulations, and Nurse-Midwifery Education 

REQUESTED BY: Mary Kay Phillips, PhD, CNM 
NMAC Chair 

BACKGROUND: 

The four NMAC subcommittees will provide updates on work conducted; 
subcommittees are as follows: 

• Public Engagement and Website 
• Nurse-Midwifery Scope of Practice 
• Regulations 
• Nurse-Midwifery Education 

RESOURCES: 

NEXT STEPS: 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF ANY: None 

PERSON(S) TO CONTACT: McCaulie Feusahrens 
Chief of the Licensing Division 
California Board of Registered Nursing 
mccaulie.feusahrens@dca.ca.gov 

21 

mailto:mccaulie.feusahrens@dca.ca.gov


  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

       
     

            
 

 
  

 
 

Agenda Item 7.0 
Discussion and possible action: Regarding input from NMAC on possible 

changes to the BRN Disciplinary Guidelines, to provide recommendations or 
guidance on care when the Board is considering disciplinary action against a 

certified nurse-midwife 

Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee (NMAC) Meeting | September 12, 2023 

22 



  

 
 

 
 

  
     

 
  

  
   

  
 

   
 

 
  

 
   

   
    

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

  
    

   
 

 
 

     

 
 

  
 

 

  
 

    
  

 
 

 

BOARD OF REGISTERED NURSING 
Nurse-Midwifery Advisory Committee Meeting

Agenda Item Summary 

AGENDA ITEM: 7.0 
DATE: September 12, 2023 

ACTION REQUESTED: Discussion and possible action: Regarding input from NMAC on 
possible changes to the BRN Disciplinary Guidelines, to provide 
recommendations or guidance on care when the Board is 
considering disciplinary action against a certified nurse-midwife 

REQUESTED BY: Mary Kay Phillips, PhD, CNM 
NMAC Chair 

BACKGROUND: 

The NMAC members will review the BRN discipline process including the BRN Disciplinary 
Guidelines and discuss the possible changes needed to DGs for NMAC to provide 
recommendations or guidance on care when the Board is considering disciplinary action against a 
CNM.  

RESOURCES: 

BRN Disciplinary Guidelines: https://www.rn.ca.gov/pdfs/enforcement/discguide.pdf 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=BPC&sectionNum=27 
46.2. 

BPC 2746.2(b)(2): 
The committee shall make recommendations to the board on all matters related to midwifery practice, 
education, appropriate standard of care, and other matters as specified by the board. The committee shall 
provide recommendations or guidance on care when the board is considering disciplinary action against a 
certified nurse-midwife. 

Nursing Practice Act - Business and Professions Code, Division 2, Chapter 6: 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=BPC&division= 
2.&title=&part=&chapter=6.&article= 

NEXT STEPS: 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF ANY: None 

PERSON(S) TO CONTACT: McCaulie Feusahrens 
Chief of the Licensing Division 
California Board of Registered Nursing 
mccaulie.feusahrens@dca.ca.gov 

23 

https://www.rn.ca.gov/pdfs/enforcement/discguide.pdf
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=BPC&sectionNum=2746.2
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=BPC&sectionNum=2746.2
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=BPC&division=2.&title=&part=&chapter=6.&article=
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=BPC&division=2.&title=&part=&chapter=6.&article=
mailto:mccaulie.feusahrens@dca.ca.gov

	Agenda Item 5.0
	BOARD OF REGISTERED NURSING
	AGENDA ITEM: 5.0
	BRN Board, Committee, and Advisory Committee Meetings in 2024
	Agenda Item 6.0
	BOARD OF REGISTERED NURSING
	AGENDA ITEM: 6.0
	Agenda Item 7.0
	BOARD OF REGISTERED NURSING
	AGENDA ITEM: 7.0




Accessibility Report





		Filename: 

		nmac_materials_sep23.pdf









		Report created by: 

		



		Organization: 

		







[Enter personal and organization information through the Preferences > Identity dialog.]



Summary



The checker found no problems in this document.





		Needs manual check: 0



		Passed manually: 2



		Failed manually: 0



		Skipped: 0



		Passed: 30



		Failed: 0







Detailed Report





		Document





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set



		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF



		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF



		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order



		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified



		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar



		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents



		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast



		Page Content





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged



		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged



		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order



		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided



		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged



		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker



		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts



		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses



		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive



		Forms





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged



		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description



		Alternate Text





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text



		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read



		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content



		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation



		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text



		Tables





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot



		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR



		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers



		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column



		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary



		Lists





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L



		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI



		Headings





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting










Back to Top



